

CONSTITUTION AND BYLAWS OF THE WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY FEDERATION OF TEACHERS

LOCAL 2278 OF THE AMERICAN FEDERATION OF TEACHERS

Last Amended by WOUFT Regular Members 18 May 2023
Dues Rate Pass-Throughs from AFT-OR Adopted 8 October 2020
Previously Amended by WOUFT Regular Members 18 April 2019

[ARTICLE I – NAME](#)

[ARTICLE II – OBJECTIVES](#)

[ARTICLE III – MEMBERSHIP](#)

[Section 1. Eligibility](#)

[Section 2. Responsibilities of Members](#)

[Section 3. Union Solidarity](#)

[Section 4. Dues](#)

[ARTICLE IV – MEMBER MEETINGS AND RULES OF ORDER](#)

[Section 1. Regular meetings](#)

[Section 2. Special meetings](#)

[Section 3. Quora](#)

[Section 4. Conducting Meetings](#)

[Section 5. Robert's Rules](#)

[ARTICLE V – EXECUTIVE COUNCIL](#)

[Section 1. Members, Qualifications, and Powers](#)

[Section 2. Code of Conduct and Oath of Office](#)

[Section 3. Duties of the Executive Council](#)

[Section 4. Fiduciary Duty and Duties by Position](#)

[Section 5. Absence and Removal](#)

[Section 6. Chair of the Collective Bargaining Committee](#)

[Section 7. Other Duties](#)

[Section 8. Grievance Representation](#)

[Section 9. Stewards](#)

[Section 10. Stipends](#)

[Section 11. Nomination and Election](#)

[Section 12. Policies: Finances, Conflict of Interest, and Whistleblower](#)

[Section 13. Removal of Officers](#)

[ARTICLE VI – COMMITTEES](#)

[Section 1. Appointments](#)

[Section 2. Duties](#)

[Section 3. Collective Bargaining Committee](#)

[Section 4. Audit Committee](#)

[Section 5. Stewards](#)

[ARTICLE VII – ETHICS BOARD AND ETHICS COMPLAINT PROCESS](#)

[Section 1. Ethics Board.](#)

[Section 2. Complaint Process](#)

[ARTICLE VIII - RATIFICATION OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENTS](#)

[Section 1. Tentative Agreement](#)

[Section 2. Ratification Procedure](#)

[ARTICLE IX – STRIKES](#)

[Section 1. Strike Authorization Meeting](#)

[Section 2. Strike Authorization Vote](#)

[ARTICLE X – AFFILIATIONS](#)

[Section 1. AFT, AFT-Oregon, Oregon State AFL-CIO](#)

[Section 2. Delegates](#)

[ARTICLE XI – AMENDMENTS](#)

[ARTICLE XII – AVAILABILITY OF DOCUMENTS](#)

[APPENDIX I Ethics Board Forms](#)

ARTICLE I – NAME

This organization shall be known as Western Oregon University Federation of Teachers (WOUFT), American Federation of Teachers (AFT) Local 2278, AFT-Oregon, AFL-CIO, and may be referred to as a union, local, or federation and by its abbreviation “WOUFT.”

ARTICLE II – OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the organization shall include the following:

- A. To provide an effective collective bargaining representative for the faculty at Western Oregon University.
- B. To promote the general welfare for the faculty at Western Oregon University.
- C. To bring the local into relations of mutual assistance with the American Federation of Teachers, its State Federation, and locals.
- D. To eliminate all forms of discrimination in institutions of higher education, including discrimination on the basis of race, creed, age, sex, sexual orientation, lifestyle, gender identity or expression, perceptions of health, national origin, disability, social or economic status, or political belief.
- E. To work for passage and retention of just laws which will improve the climate for students and faculty.
- F. To work for advancement of the public image of higher education, including passage and retention of appropriate laws that will protect and promote the role of faculty employees and higher education workers in the delivery of quality education.

ARTICLE III – MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. Eligibility

1.1. Membership in WOUFT shall be either regular or associate.

1.1.1. Regular membership in WOUFT is conferred on faculty who pay dues to the local. Any employee included in any bargaining unit represented by the local, or in a unit which is being organized by the local, shall be eligible for regular member status.

From the WOUFT-WOU CBA, Article 1: Members of the bargaining unit are employees of WOU who hold academic rank (i.e., Professor, Associate Professor, Assistant Professor, Non-Tenure Track Assistant Professor, Instructor,

and Lecturer) and who are regularly employed at .50 FTE or more for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to salaries and other terms and conditions of employment. Excluded are all positions properly excluded by law as supervisory or confidential.

1.1.2. Associate membership is conferred on persons who are not in the bargaining unit but who choose to be associated with the local, subject to Executive Council approval. Associate members are not formal members of the bargaining unit but are those who support the union through financial or other means (e.g., retired members).

1.2. "Non-member employees" are those members of the bargaining unit who are not regular members of WOUFT.

1.3. Regular members shall be entitled to all rights and privileges in this organization.

1.4. Associate members have the same rights and privileges as regular members, except that they may not vote in elections or on collective bargaining agreements or on the question of dues; they may not run for the position of officer or delegate.

1.5. Non-member employees may observe regular meetings but have no standing to participate in such meetings. Non-member employees may not vote in any elections or on any issues, including collective bargaining agreements or dues. Furthermore, non-member employees may, by decision of the Executive Council, be excluded from attendance at all, or part, of any regular meetings. Non-member employees may not run for positions of officer or delegate.

1.6. Anyone ineligible to enter into the bargaining unit shall not be eligible for regular membership in WOUFT. A member who is promoted to a position with supervisory or managerial responsibilities outside the bargaining unit that excludes them from the bargaining unit shall be automatically removed from membership on the effective date of the promotion. Such faculty may make voluntary contributions; however, such contributions do not confer membership.

1.7. Employees who retire or leave the bargaining unit for any reason, except supervisory status, shall be eligible to continue membership as an associate member.

1.8. Non-Discrimination: No discrimination shall be shown toward individual members or applicants for membership based on race, color, national or ethnic origin, immigration status, religion, age, marital status, parental status, sex, sexual orientation, gender

identity or expression, socioeconomic background, educational background, disability, perceptions of health, political belief, military service/veteran status, professorial rank, or employment type or status.

Section 2. Responsibilities of Members

2.1. The members of WOUFT solely comprise WOUFT. Members are advised to participate actively in regularly held WOUFT meetings to contribute their voices and values to guide WOUFT's actions as a union. WOUFT seeks to build consensus and make democratically informed decisions, meaning each member has authority to influence and agree to decisions made by the broader union. Thus, the union only exists when members take ownership over it. By joining and participating actively, members are asserting their voices and values in the union, and, as a collective of workers, the union gets stronger only when its members participate.

2.2. The members of WOUFT are expected to conduct themselves in accordance with a high standard of professionalism, respect, compassion, and humanity when interacting with all people, including but not limited to other faculty, staff, students, administrators, and professional contacts. In particular, WOUFT members are expected to be sensitive to power imbalances when dealing with faculty of lower rank, staff, or students. These expectations apply to any situation in which a WOUFT member is acting in a role, or through a medium, that associates them with the position for which they are afforded the privilege of inclusion in the bargaining unit.

In particular, WOUFT recognizes any behavior as unacceptable when it has the effect, or could reasonably be assumed to have the effect, of creating, contributing to, and/or maintaining a professional environment that is hostile toward or damaging to a person or group on the basis of the traits listed in Article III, Section 1, Subsection 1.8. Such unacceptable behaviors are prohibited by Section 2 of this document.

Further, WOUFT expects its members to do the following consistently and regularly:

- A. Respect others and their views.
- B. Recognize and value individual differences.
- C. Eschew aggressive, bullying, discriminatory, harassing, or intimidating behavior, both explicit and subtle, by oneself or others.
- D. Engage in continuing education and improvement in the areas of diversity, justice, equity, and inclusion.
- E. Contribute to a culture of inclusivity, respect, solidarity, and safety for all of WOUFT and for WOU in its entirety.

Section 3. Union Solidarity

3.1. The union's greatest asset is the strength, unity, and solidarity of its entire membership. Union solidarity is based on the principle that union members are equal and deserve mutual respect at all levels; members of a labor union act together to promote their common interests in their workplace. Unions with solidarity promote the mutual interests of all working people through collaboration and cooperation with other people and groups on campus and beyond.

3.2. Union members shape the direction and decisions of the union. Members are expected to engage with the union and understand the union's common interests, avoiding singular focus on individual interests. It is the responsibility of members to seek out answers to questions with union leadership when confusion or misunderstandings arise. Members are expected to not engage in formal opposition to bargaining offers or to bargain with administration outside the formal bargaining process. Bargaining outside the formal bargaining process is an unfair labor practice, since WOUFT is the exclusive bargaining representative for the bargaining unit. Any behavior that creates conflict prevents us from working together to strengthen our union. Concerns about the bargaining process or content of the WOUFT contract, or questions about bargaining, should be brought to the bargaining team, appropriate division steward, or WOUFT Executive Council.

3.3. Any regular member engaged in organized efforts to undermine the union will be subject to Ethics Board review.

3.4. Any non-member employees advocating for any regular member to leave the union will be disqualified from regular membership for two years.

Section 4. Dues

4.1. Member dues shall be collected monthly at the rate proportional to gross monthly salary, according to the table immediately below. The base salary for determining the monthly deduction shall exclude summer salary or any additional stipends that a faculty member might receive. For faculty whose 9-month salary is distributed over 12 months, the dues deduction will be taken over 12 months.

Below Tenure-Track Step 1	1.028%
------------------------------	--------

At or above TT Step 1 and Below TT Step 15	1.079%
At or above TT Step 15 and Below TT Step 25	1.233%
At or above TT Step 25 and Below TT Step 33	1.388%
At or above TT Step 33	1.542%

4.2. The dues year shall be from July 1 through June 30. Dues payment is due on the first of the month for that month. Members may pay dues on a quarterly, semi-annual, or annual basis in advance. Payment shall be to the Treasurer of the local. The local encourages members to use automatic dues deduction provisions whenever they are available.

4.3. Per the AFT Constitution, when per capita increases are implemented by AFT or AFT-Oregon, WOUFT member dues rates shall be increased in equal proportion to such increases. When such an AFT or AFT-Oregon per capita increase is required, the WOUFT Treasurer is responsible for calculating the resulting percent increase in total WOUFT per capita payments. When any such pass-through WOUFT dues increase is triggered, the WOUFT Treasurer will apply the rate increase to the rates in the table in Section 1, maintaining three decimal places¹. Upon review by the Executive Council, this WOUFT Constitution and Bylaws is thereby considered amended without ratification and will be immediately posted as amended and the membership immediately notified.

4.4. Other than pass-through dues increases described in Section 3, any change in local dues must be proposed at a regular membership meeting or in a special meeting as specified in Article XI. A vote on the proposal shall be conducted at the next regular meeting held at least one month after the meeting at which the dues change proposal was announced, and the dues change proposal must receive a majority vote to pass.

¹ For example, if the WOUFT Treasurer finds that as a result of a per capita increase from AFT-Oregon, the combined monthly per capita payments to all affiliates increased from \$10,000 to \$10,530, the percentage increase is 5.3%. The top rate 1.500% change calculates as follows: $1.500\% \times (1 + 0.053) = 1.5795\%$, rounded to three decimal places = 1.580%. Each dues tier is recalculated in the same way.

ARTICLE IV – MEMBER MEETINGS AND RULES OF ORDER

Section 1. Regular meetings

1.1. WOUFT will hold regular member meetings (hereafter: “regular meetings”) at least three times during the academic year to take place in fall term during the week preceding the beginning of classes and during the first four weeks of each winter and spring term. The Executive Council may, by majority vote, establish and/or change the dates of these regular meetings so long as notice is given to the membership at least ten (10) business days in advance of the rescheduled meeting. See Article IV, Section 3 for meeting quorum details.

1.2. The President or Executive Council may call additional regular meetings, including meetings during the period of July through August.

Section 2. Special meetings.

Special meetings may be called in three ways (see Article IV, Section 3 for meeting quorum details):

2.1. The regular members, by majority vote at a regular meeting, may agree on a date, time, and purpose for a special meeting.

2.2. A petition stating the purpose of the proposed special meeting, and signed by at least twenty percent (20%) of the regular members, may be submitted to the President, who shall call a special meeting.

2.3. The Executive Council, by a majority vote, may call a special meeting.

Section 3. Quora

A quorum for regular and special meetings shall consist of ten percent (10%) of the total number of regular members, including at least two officers. For strike authorization votes, strike votes, and changes to the Constitution and Bylaws, a quorum shall consist of twenty percent (20%) of the total number of regular members, including at least two officers.

Section 4. Conducting Meetings

1.1. The President shall conduct all meetings. The President may delegate authority to a member of the Executive Council to conduct a meeting.

1.2. Each regular meeting will comprise an open portion which all bargaining unit members may attend and a closed portion which only regular members may attend.

Section 5. Robert's Rules

All meetings will be conducted according to Revised Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised. Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised, shall govern in all cases not covered by the Constitution and Bylaws of this local.

ARTICLE V – EXECUTIVE COUNCIL

Section 1. Members, Qualifications and Powers

1.1. The WOUFT Executive Council, whose authority and powers derive from WOUFT as a whole, shall consist of the elected officers (i.e., President, Vice-President of Membership and Organization, Vice President of Political Action and Education, Secretary, Treasurer, and Communications Director) and the Chair of the Collective Bargaining Committee, appointed by the elected officers of the Executive Council, as described in Article V, Section 10.

1.2. A candidate for Executive Council must be a member in good standing with at least one year of regular member status to hold office.

1.3. The Executive Council shall meet at least once per academic term. In cases when there is no business to consider, the Executive Council may cancel the meeting. However, the Executive Council must meet at least once during the academic year.

1.4. The President of the local shall be the Chairperson of the Executive Council.

1.5. The Executive Council shall make decisions by a show of hands at an Executive Council meeting, or by telephone or electronic communication when needed or convenient (but only if no member of the Executive Council objects to decisions being made outside of a Council meeting). Decisions shall be by majority vote. No member may cast more than one vote, except in the case of a tie. In the case of a tie vote, the

President (or presiding officer) shall first seek consensus among the members, but, failing that, the President may break the tie by casting one additional vote.

1.6. The Executive Council shall have the power to make contracts and incur liabilities which may be appropriate to enable it to accomplish any or all of its purposes; to borrow money for WOUFT purposes at such rates of interest as terms and conditions as they may determine; to issue notes, bonds, and other obligations; and to secure any of its property by mortgage, pledge, or deed of trust of all or any of its property and income. All such activities shall be subject to approval of the membership.

1.7. The Executive Council shall have the power to act for the good of the local in emergency situations where the policy cannot be set by the membership.

1.8. The Executive Council may create standing or special committees to carry out the interests and business of the local.

1.9. The Executive Council will investigate all reports of any WOU administrator advocating that or suggesting that any regular member leave the union, in accordance with Section 11(j) of Oregon HB 2016.

Section 2. Code of Conduct and Oath of Office

2.1. The Executive Council Code of Conduct enumerates WOUFT's ethics rules and standards and helps WOUFT to accomplish its mission. The Code enables WOUFT to meet any ethical challenges that we face as we pursue our ambitious goals. It is intended to give WOUFT members and leaders guidance for achieving the highest ethical standards. By providing a framework for accountability, these policies promote WOUFT's goal of justice for all.

2.1.1. Executive Officers of WOUFT shall do the following:

2.1.1.1. Recognize that the mission of the Executive Council is to serve the best interests of WOUFT,

2.1.1.2. Demonstrate the highest standards of personal integrity, truthfulness, honesty, and fortitude in the public and private execution of all of our their WOUFT duties,

2.1.1.3. Conduct themselves with professional fairness, impartiality, and transparency, and

2.1.1.4. Value all members, treat all members equitably, and be respectful of members with differing opinions.

2.2. The following Oath of Office shall be taken by all incoming Executive Council members during the first fall meeting:

"I (state name) accept my responsibility as an Executive Council member of the Western Oregon University Federation of Teachers and pledge that I will faithfully observe its Constitution and Bylaws and those of AFT-Oregon and the American Federation of Teachers.

"I recognize that the mission of the Executive Council is to serve the best interests of WOUFT. I will demonstrate the highest standards of personal integrity, truthfulness, honesty, and fortitude in the public and private execution of all of my WOUFT duties. I will conduct myself with professional fairness, impartiality, and transparency, and I will not knowingly wrong a fellow union member or see a member wronged if it is in my power to prevent it. I will value all members, treat all members equitably, and be respectful of members with dissenting opinions.

"In this role, I agree to defend the principles of trade unionism, to work to improve the lives of our members, to encourage non-members to join, and to encourage the unrepresented to organize. I will purchase union-made products and use unionized services, whenever available and feasible. In addition, if eligible I will qualify myself to vote in all local, state, and federal elections.

"I further promise that I will turn over to my successor, when duly qualified, all documents and property belonging to the organization that are in my charge at the conclusion of my term.

"I will carry out these duties to the best of my ability and pledge to provide effective and responsible leadership."

Section 3. Duties of the Executive Council

3.1. The Executive Council shall direct the President to administer the policy of the local as set by the membership at regular and special meetings.

3.2. The Executive Council shall review and adopt the Treasurer's annual budget in March prior to the beginning of the next fiscal year. The adopted budget will be reported to membership at the spring regular meeting.

3.3. The Executive Council shall report its activities at each regular membership meeting.

3.4. The President, Vice Presidents, Secretary, Treasurer, and Communications Director shall convene and appoint a Chair of the Collective Bargaining Committee. Should the Bargaining Committee Chair resign, the President, Vice Presidents, Secretary, and Treasurer shall convene and appoint a new Chair.

3.5. The Executive Council will seek nominations and conduct elections for WOUFT delegates to the AFT-Oregon annual convention and the AFL-CIO annual convention. Nominations and elections must be completed by AFT-Oregon and AFL-CIO deadlines. Nominations are open to all regular members in good standing.

3.6. Based on an analysis of lessons learned from ethics complaints for the year, the Ethics Board and Executive Council will make recommendations for engagement and improvement in the areas of diversity, justice, equity, and inclusion at the spring general membership meeting.

Section 4. Fiduciary Duty and Duties by Position

4.1. Fiduciary Duty: WOUFT Executive Council members have a duty to discharge their responsibilities solely on behalf of and for the benefit of WOUFT.

4.2. Duties by Position

The duties of the various officers shall be specified in the Constitution and Bylaws and in the parliamentary authority adopted by this local. The primary duties of the officers shall be as follows:

4.2.1. President. This officer shall engage in the following:

- A. Be the chief executive officer of the local and administer all of the affairs of the local and execute the policies of the local, as determined by the Executive Council;
- B. Preside at all meetings of the local and the Executive Council;
- C. Be authorized to sign all necessary papers, documents, checks, and payments by the local;
- D. Represent the local when and where necessary;
- E. Assume responsibility for the orderly management and successful completion of all union business;

- F. Make a report to the membership at least once each year, summarizing the accomplishments of the local and outlining plans for the next year; and
- G. Maintain a relationship with the national office, state federation (AFT-Oregon) and the Oregon AFL-CIO.

4.2.2. Vice-President for Membership and Organization. This officer shall engage in the following:

- A. Organize and lead annual membership campaigns
- B. Keep the membership roll
- C. Assist the president in organizing union activities and events
- D. Collect and distribute information on benefits provided by the state federation and national union
- E. Send quarterly membership reports, with mailing addresses, to AFT-Oregon
- F. Organize and oversee the stewards program: recruiting and training stewards, conducting a meeting for all stewards at least once a term, checking in regularly with stewards to provide guidance
- G. Be authorized to approve accounts payable and to sign union documents, as needed

4.2.3. Vice-President for Political Education and Action. This officer shall engage in the following:

- A. Collect and distribute material on political actions and policies that relate to union interests at the local, state, and national levels;
- B. Assist the president in organizing union activities and events;
- C. Work closely with the AFT-Oregon director of politics and the AFT-Oregon Political Action Committee;
- D. Organize and lead political actions approved by the local and/or state federation; and
- E. Be authorized to approve accounts payable and to sign union documents, as needed.

4.2.4. Secretary. This officer shall engage in the following:

- A. Issue all notices, except those required by the President or one of the Vice-Presidents;
- B. Answer correspondence at the direction of the President,

- C. Report outside correspondence to the President and the Executive Council;
- D. Be the custodian of the seal and charter of the Federation;
- E. Be the custodian of the non-financial records of the union;
- F. Administer all elections and count the results;
- G. Secure accommodations for general and special membership meetings;
- H. Record and retain the minutes of the Executive Council and regular and special membership meetings;
- I. Assist the President in preparing written communications; and
- J. Be authorized to approve accounts payable and to sign union documents, as needed.

4.2.5. Treasurer. This officer shall engage in the following:

- A. Receive, record, and deposit in the name of the local all monies from dues and other sources;
- B. Issue receipts and delinquency notices;
- C. Present all accounts payable for approval by two other members of the Executive Council;
- D. Sign check or otherwise execute payments after approval is obtained;
- E. Maintain the security of the local's financial instruments;
- F. Keep accurate and adequate records of all financial transactions available at all times for the Executive Council and the budget and audit committees;
- G. Examine the local's financial institution accounts regularly to compare to local financial records;
- H. Prepare budgets annually and as needed;
- I. Prepare and present a financial report to the Executive Council quarterly or as requested, with comparison to the annual budget;
- J. Submit a financial statement for the local, including a statement of assets and liabilities and a statement of income and expenses, to the AFT Secretary-Treasurer within five months of the end of the fiscal year for the local;
- K. Prepare Federal Form 990 annually;
- L. Make regular financial reports to membership;
- M. On or before the 15th of each month, forward all taxes and assessments due the national and state affiliate offices of the American Federation of Teachers; and
- N. Ensure that the required per capita payments are sent to the national and state affiliate offices of the American Federation of Teachers at

least fifteen (15) days before the convening of the relevant conventions.

4.2.6. Communications Director. This officer shall engage in the following:

- A. Manage the WOUFT website, which may include designing and maintaining the website, fixing links, updating images, ensuring user-friendliness of the website, replying to website comments, analyzing site traffic, and managing access rights of other users to the website.
 - a. The WOUFT Executive Council will approve the basic components, content, and layout of the website (e.g., WOUFT bargaining information, such as team members, regular bargaining updates, Bylaws and Constitution, the grievance process, and current Grievance Officers)
 - b. The Executive Council may, at any time and by majority vote, approve the addition of items/components to the WOUFT website.
 - c. Any new posts that fall under previously approved sections on the WOUFT webpage will be submitted directly to the WOUFT Communications Director for immediate upload. Examples of such posts might include updated membership-approved bylaws, bargaining updates, and changes in WOUFT leadership rosters.
- B. Manage WOUFT social media accounts.
- C. Assist the President and the Executive Council in creating, finalizing, and distributing communications via various media to the membership (e.g, newsletters, blogs, twitter feeds).
- D. Regularly consult with the Executive Council to determine the appropriateness of various communications media.

Section 5. Absence and Removal

An officer who is absent from three consecutive meetings of the Executive Council, without adequate excuse made to the President or Secretary, shall be considered to have vacated their office.

Section 6. Chair of the Collective Bargaining Committee

The Chair of the Collective Bargaining Committee shall:

- A. Chair the Collective Bargaining Committee and preside over all meetings of that committee;
- B. Oversee collective bargaining and implementation of the contract of the local;

- C. Coordinate resources, materials, and training for members of the bargaining committee;
- D. Serve as a voting member of the WOUFT Executive Council; and
- E. Perform such other duties as may be assigned by the President or the Executive Council.

Section 7. Other Duties

7.1. As a duty of their office, officers and the Chair of the Collective Bargaining Committee shall serve as delegates to conventions of affiliates in the order of their listing in Article V, Section 1.1, up to the number of delegates authorized by the local, except if the Executive Council decides that attendance is unnecessary, impractical, or too expensive.

7.2. Executive Council officers and the Chair of the Collective Bargaining Committee shall respond to member requests for engagement in a timely fashion.

Section 8. Grievance Representation

8.1. The Executive Council is responsible for processing any contractual complaint. The Executive Council shall appoint individuals to be Grievance Representatives, who shall represent the local as “Grievance Officers” in grievance matters with the university. Once a complaint is received, the Executive Council will refer each such complaint to one or more grievance representatives for investigation. Grievance Representatives will investigate complaints assigned to them by the WOUFT Executive Council, evaluate the validity of each complaint, and report to the Executive Council on the findings of their investigations. The Executive Council will make final decisions on the disposition of formal membership complaints.

8.2. The Grievance Review shall take place within contractual requirements for processing the grievance.

Section 9. Stewards

9.1 Duties: No individual steward is responsible for all of these tasks. Instead, the steward is responsible for organizing the workplace, building a worksite team and involving members so that tasks are shared and are performed on a regular basis.

- A. Get to know and build relationships with the workers in the unit
- B. Greet new members and help them get oriented

- C. Attend official new employee orientations if applicable
- D. Ask workers to join the union
- E. Provide pathways for members to get more involved in their union
- F. Develop other member leaders' skills and abilities
- G. Hold worksite or department meetings
- H. Assist the Executive Council in keeping updated phone numbers, addresses and emails of members
- I. Support contract campaigns
- J. Support rallies, vigils, work actions, petitions, demonstrations and other activities
- K. Keep bulletin boards up to date
- L. Distribute flyers, leaflets and surveys to members
- M. Attend monthly training classes provided by VP for Membership and Organization
- N. Attend General Membership Meetings and Steward Meetings
- O. Work on political and legislative activities where permissible, including signing up members to contribute to the Political Action Fund, grassroots lobbying, phone banks, and canvassing
- P. Communicate complaints and potential grievances to WOUFT President

Section 10. Stipends

Each Executive Council member will receive an annual stipend of \$550 from WOUFT on the first day of their term (typically July 1) to support them in their duties. Any Executive Council member who does not serve out any year is expected to return an amount proportional to the time not served during the year, and the replacement for that Executive Council member during that year will receive a stipend from WOUFT proportional to the time they serve during that year.

Section 11. Nomination and Election

11.1. To ensure staggered terms, the local shall elect the following officers bi-annually by May 30th of odd-numbered years.

President
 Vice President of Membership and Organization
 Communications Director

The local shall elect the following officers bi-annually by May 30th of even-numbered years.

Vice President for Political Education and Action
Secretary
Treasurer

11.2. Officers shall take office by July 1st. The term of office shall be two years.

11.3. Nominations. Nominations for office shall be made during spring term of odd-numbered years for the offices of President, VP of Membership and Organization and Communications Director; and during the spring term of even-numbered years for the offices of Vice President for Political Education and Action, Secretary, and Treasurer from the floor at the regular meeting, or by email or telephone to current officers. Nominees must have given their consent to be nominated. Notice shall be provided to each regular member at least fifteen (15) days prior to the meeting that nominations will be in order. Notice of the right to make nominations and of the election may be combined in one notice.

11.4. Election shall be conducted electronically using a vendor that follows the [LMRDA standards](#), by ballot vote of regular members in good standing. Office holders must maintain their regular membership in good standing while in office.

11.5. The Secretary, assisted by other members of the Executive Council, shall conduct the election. The ballots and all other records pertaining to the election shall be retained by the Secretary for a period of not less than one year.

11.6. The candidate receiving a plurality of at least forty percent (40%) of the votes cast shall be declared elected. If the plurality of forty percent (40%) is not obtained, a run-off election of the two candidates receiving the most votes shall be held within fifteen (15) days according to the above procedure for ballot distribution and voting. If a regular member is unable to be present to vote during the designated election period and wishes to cast a ballot, the regular member can do so by contacting the WOUFT Secretary to arrange to pick up an absentee ballot and designate a proxy voter who may submit the ballot. Any assigned proxy voter must be a regular member who can be present during the election. Absentee ballots will be numbered, stamped, initialed, and only accepted from assigned proxy voters.

11.7. Vacancies, including resignations, in any office shall be filled by recommendation of the Executive Council and majority vote of the members present at the meeting during which the vote is held. In the event that the President is incapacitated for any reason, the President will be temporarily succeeded immediately by another officer,

according to the following order of succession: Vice President for Membership and Organization, Vice President for Political Education and Action, Secretary, Treasurer, Communications Director, Chair of Collective Bargaining. In the case of permanent incapacitation (e.g., more than 60 days) or leaving the bargaining unit, the Executive Committee will schedule an election for replacement for the duration of the term within thirty (30) days of succession.

Section 12. Policies: Finances, Conflict of Interest and Whistleblower

12.1. The local may obtain additional finances through grants, donations, contributions, or other funding activities.

12.2. The fiscal year shall be 1 July through 30 June.

12.3. No later than 31 October, an Audit Committee (Article VI, Section 4) shall audit the financial records of the local.

12.4. The Treasurer of the local shall prepare all necessary Federal, State, and local tax documents and ensure that those documents are submitted in a timely manner.

12.5. Financial Practices.

12.5.1. WOUFT funds are held in trust for the benefit of WOUFT. Members of WOUFT are entitled to assurance that those funds are spent for appropriate purposes only.

12.5.2. WOUFT will not permit funds to be invested or expended in a manner which results in a personal profit or advantage for any Executive Council member.

12.5.3. WOUFT will not make loans to members, Executive Council members, or members of their families.

12.5.4. Members and Executive Council members will not engage in self-dealing transactions with WOUFT, such as buying from or selling property to WOUFT, without the informed unanimous approval of the Executive Council after full disclosure that includes an independent appraisal. Any such transaction must be reported to the membership in Executive Council meeting minutes.

12.5.5. Executive Council members are prohibited from accepting money or anything else of value from the Employer or any agent of the Employer.

12.6. Financial Processes.

12.6.1. Payments are presented by the Treasurer to the Executive Council. Each payment requires the explicit approval of two other Executive Council members. The Treasurer may not authorize expenditures. Authorizations are documented through the shared account ledger. Checks may be signed with a single signature; this will usually be the Treasurer, but the President serves as an authorized signer.

12.6.2. Any proposed expense payable to an officer may not be authorized by that same officer.

12.6.3. The Treasurer executes payments once they are authorized.

12.6.4. Any WOUFT member, with just cause, can examine books, records, and accounts that would verify WOUFT's financial reports or tax forms.

12.7. Conflict of Interest Policy.

12.7.1. The purpose of the following policy and practices is to prevent the personal interest of Executive Council members from interfering with the performance of their duties to WOUFT or that result in personal financial, professional, or political gain on the part of such persons at the expense of WOUFT or its members, supporters, and other stakeholders.

12.7.2. Definitions: Conflict of Interest (also Conflict) means a conflict, or the appearance of a conflict, between the private interests and official responsibilities of Executive Council members of WOUFT.

12.7.3. Policy and Practices.

12.7.3.1. Full disclosure, by notice in writing, shall be made by the interested parties to the full Executive Council in all conflicts of interest, including but not limited to the following:

- A. An Executive Council member is related to another Executive Council member or staff member by blood, marriage, or domestic partnership.

B. An Executive Council member stands to benefit from a WOUFT transaction.

12.7.3.2. An interested Executive Council member shall not participate in any discussion or debate of the Executive Council, or of any committee or subcommittee thereof in which the subject of discussion is a contract, transaction, or situation in which there may be a perceived or actual conflict of interest for that member. However, they may be present to provide clarifying information in such a discussion or debate, unless objected to by any present Executive Council or committee member.

12.7.3.3. Anyone in a position to make decisions about spending resources (i.e., transactions such as purchases and contracts) who also stands to benefit from that decision has a duty to disclose that conflict as soon as it arises (or becomes apparent); s/he should not participate in any final decisions.

12.7.3.4. This policy must be reviewed annually by all Executive Council members at a meeting of the Executive Council. The minutes of that meeting must indicate that every member of the Executive Council agrees to abide by the Code of Ethical Practices.

12.8. Whistleblower Policy.

12.8.1. WOUFT requires Executive Council members to observe high standards of business and personal ethics in the conduct of their duties and responsibilities.

12.8.2. It is the responsibility of all Executive Council members to report suspected ethics violations to the Ethics Board (see Article VII) in accordance with this Whistleblower Policy.

12.8.3. No Executive Council member who in good faith reports an ethics violation shall suffer harassment, retaliation, or adverse employment consequences. An employee who retaliates against someone who has reported a violation in good faith is subject to discipline up to and including expulsion from the union (Article VII, Section 2, Subsection 2.10). This Whistleblower Policy is intended to encourage and enable WOUFT members and others to raise serious concerns within WOUFT.

12.8.4. WOUFT has an open door policy and suggests that members share their questions, concerns, suggestions, or complaints with someone who can address them properly. WOUFT members are encouraged to contact any Executive Council member about any issue of concern.

Section 13. Removal of Officers

An elected officer may be removed from office for specific cause, which may include, but not be limited to, substantial failure to execute their duties as provided in the Constitution and Bylaws, misconduct, illegal acts or willful, or significant violation of the Constitution and Bylaws. Removal shall be by the following procedures:

13.1. Removal will be effective upon approval of a Petition for Removal by the membership in a meeting scheduled for consideration of such a petition. A specific Petition for Removal shall apply only to a specific officer.

13.2. Where the Secretary is the subject of the Petition for Removal, the President shall designate another officer to conduct the responsibilities of the Secretary under this Article.

13.3. A Petition for Removal shall identify specific, detailed charges signed by at least twenty-five (25) percent of the regular members. The petition must identify the member(s) initiating the Petition for Removal, who must attend the meeting when the petition is considered to present their charges. A copy of the petition shall immediately be served upon the officer. The Secretary shall verify that the signatures are of regular members in good standing at the time of their signatures.

13.4. Removal may be considered at the next regular membership meeting already scheduled within forty-five (45) days following receipt of a petition for recall. If none is scheduled within that period, the President shall schedule and announce a special meeting within forty-five (45) days after receipt of the petition for recall. The member(s) initiating the petition for recall will be responsible for presentation of the charges to the membership.

13.5. A majority vote of the members in good standing voting at such a meeting will be required for removal. A quorum shall be required and shall be enforced. The Secretary will conduct the vote and certify the results. The vote shall be taken by a call of the roll. The result of the vote shall be published.

13.6. The voters eligible to vote for removal will be restricted to those voters normally eligible to vote in an election for that position and who are in good standing at the time of the vote.

13.7. The officer subject to removal will be provided an opportunity to be heard before any vote on removal by the membership and shall be entitled to representation of their choice at any meeting at which the charges will be considered.

ARTICLE VI – COMMITTEES

Section 1. Appointments

1.1. Committees shall be composed of members of the local and shall be appointed by the Executive Council.

1.2. Chairpersons of the Committees shall be designated at the time of committee appointments by the Executive Council.

1.3. Whenever a new committee is added in the Constitution and Bylaws, initial appointments to the new committee shall be made within thirty (30) days from the effective date of the amendment, irrespective of the timeline for regular appointments in the description of the committee in these Bylaws. The initial appointees shall serve a term through the end of what otherwise would be a normal term, after which the regular appointment cycle will take place.

Section 2. Duties

2.1. Committees shall assume duties assigned by the Executive Council.

2.2. Committees shall annually submit a written report and other reports as directed by the Executive Council.

2.3. Committees may form subcommittees as needed.

Section 3. Collective Bargaining Committee

3.1. There shall be a WOUFT Collective Bargaining Committee.

3.2. Chair of the Collective Bargaining Committee: See Article V, Section 6 for the method, duration, and duties of appointment.

3.3. Members of the Collective Bargaining Committee: The officers of the Executive Council shall automatically be members of the Collective Bargaining Committee, which may also be known as the Bargaining Team. The local shall make all reasonable efforts to ensure that at least one member from each academic division or unit (e.g., Library & Media Services) serves on the Collective Bargaining Committee. And while the Executive Council shall solicit a representative from each division and units, it shall be the Executive Council that determines the composition of the Collective Bargaining Committee. Only regular members of the local may serve on the Bargaining Committee. The Committee shall be appointed in spring terms of years immediately preceding the year of expiration of the current contract, or the year in which a contract reopener is stipulated, for a term of two years. The Committee will be chosen by whichever Executive Council—incoming or existing—will be serving in the following fall term. In the event that contract negotiations have not successfully concluded prior to the expiration of the spring term, the term will automatically be extended until such time that a new contract has been ratified. If there is a change in union officers during the collective bargaining process, the new officers will not replace the existing members of the Collective Bargaining Committee if they are actively negotiating the next iteration of the contract for the local, unless there is mutual agreement between an outgoing and incoming officer.

3.4. Duties of the Collective Bargaining Committee: The duties of the Collective Bargaining Committee shall be to represent and negotiate for the local on all collective bargaining matters related to the bargaining unit.

3.5. Members of the Collective Bargaining Committee must keep confidential all discussions, paperwork, and records of the committee, to be shared only with other WOUFT members or officers and staff of AFT-Oregon and AFT, or agents of WOUFT, AFT-Oregon, or AFT. Collective Bargaining Committee members, by joining the Collective Bargaining Committee, are understood to agree to keep these discussions and documents confidential. Only documents specifically approved by the Collective Bargaining Committee to be presented to the WOU administration may be made more widely available. Any other internal discussions, paperwork, and records may only be shared outside of WOUFT members, AFT-Oregon, and AFT officers and staff and their agents if under legal obligation to do so under subpoena or court order. The Collective Bargaining Committee may, by majority vote, decide to release a document or information item from the confidentiality described here.

Section 4. Audit Committee

The Executive Council shall appoint an Audit Committee of no fewer than three members in good standing. The Treasurer may not serve as a member of the Audit Committee. The Treasurer shall make finance records available and be available to answer questions the Audit Committee may have regarding the finances of the local. Per AFT's Constitution, the President and at least one other officer of the Executive Council must sign all WOUFT audits.

Section 5. Stewards

The Steward Program makes the union visible to workers and administration. It enables communication, representation, and mobilization within the workplace and helps create a union workplace culture. A steward's most important job is to build an active, united, and involved membership in the workplace. The Executive Council will make every effort to ensure that each division is represented by a steward. Only regular members of the local may serve in the Steward Program.

5.1. Oversight: The Vice-President of Membership and Organization oversees the Steward Program and ensures that each steward is provided with all necessary materials, including the WOUFT Steward Handbook.

5.2. Duties: No individual steward is responsible for all of these tasks. Instead, the steward is responsible for organizing the workplace, building a worksite team, and involving members so that tasks are shared and are performed on a regular basis. Duties include the following:

- A. Get to know and build relationships with the workers in the unit;
- B. Greet new members and help them get oriented;
- C. Attend official new employee orientations if applicable;
- D. Ask workers to join the union;
- E. Provide pathways for members to get more involved in their union;
- F. Develop other member leaders' skills and abilities;
- G. Hold worksite or department meetings;
- H. Assist the Executive Council in keeping updated phone numbers, addresses, and emails of members;
- I. Support contract campaigns;
- J. Support rallies, vigils, work actions, petitions, demonstrations, and other activities;
- K. Keep bulletin boards up to date;
- L. Distribute flyers, leaflets, and surveys to members;
- M. Attend training classes;

- N. Attend General Membership Meetings and Steward Meetings; and
- O. Work on political and legislative activities where permissible, including signing up members to contribute to the Political Action Fund, grassroots lobbying, phone banks, and canvassing.

ARTICLE VII – ETHICS BOARD AND ETHICS COMPLAINT PROCESS

Section 1. Ethics Board.

1.1. The WOUFT Ethics Board, whose authority and powers derive from WOUFT as a whole, is responsible for upholding the WOUFT Constitution and Bylaws by investigating ethics complaints against regular and associate members and, if warranted, filing a Petition for Expulsion in accordance with this Article or a Petition for Removal in accordance with Article V, Section 12, or a letter of reprimand. An ethics complaint is a formal complaint that a member has violated a provision of any of the following:

- A. Article III, Section 1, Subsection 1.8
- B. Article III, Section 2, Subsection 2.2
- C. Article III, Section 3, Subsection 3.3
- D. Article V, Sections 2, 3, 4, 6, 11

1.2. The Ethics Board will operate independently of the Executive Council, holding itself to the highest standards of integrity.

1.3. The Ethics Board will consist of three members, two of which shall be WOUFT regular members and one of which will be a regular member in good standing of an AFT-OR union different from WOUFT. Ethics Board members may be nominated by any regular member and shall be elected by the Executive Council via a majority vote. When a vacancy exists, the Executive Council shall appoint an Ethics Board member as soon as possible.

1.4. Eligibility: No current Executive Council member may also serve as an Ethics Board member. Each Ethics Board member from within WOUFT must have had grievance training or be willing to complete grievance training with AFT-Oregon at the first opportunity; if possible, at least one of the two members from within WOUFT must have had direct experience with at least one grievance.

1.5. Each Ethics Board member must make a non-WOU email address available to all regular members for the purpose of consultation or submitting ethics complaints.

1.6. With the exception of the inaugural Ethics Board, the term of office for all Ethics Board members shall be three years, with the opportunity for a renewal of one, two, or three years. The inaugural Ethics Board will consist of one member who serves one year, one member who serves two years, and one member who serves three years.

1.7. The Ethics Board should adjudicate complaints fairly and in an unbiased fashion and determine whether sanctions may be warranted. If so, the Ethics Board will present the charges to the membership or generate a Petition for Expulsion. Lesser offenses, as deemed by the Ethics Board, may be subject to a letter of reprimand from the Ethics Board rather than a Petition for Expulsion.

1.8. The Ethics Board will make informal reports to the following groups:

- A. the Executive Council once per term in each term that cases arise (including Summer) and
- B. the membership once per year.

The informal reports will contain no names, dates, academic ranks, or colleges, departments, or divisions. The purpose of the reports is to identify areas in which the union can help guide general member behavior.

Section 2. Complaint Process.

2.1. The Ethics Board will make a secure Google form or similar secure platform, and instructions for a paper submission option, available via the WOUFT website by which members may file complaints, ensuring that no WOU email addresses are used.

2.2. Only regular members may file ethics complaints. Complaints may be filed against any regular or associate member, including Executive Council members; as well as any non-member employees advocating for any regular member to leave the union. Members cannot file ethics complaints on behalf of other members or non-members.

2.3. No anonymous complaints will be heard by the Ethics Board.

2.4. Potential complainants may engage with an Ethics Board member by phone, email, or in-person for an exploratory conversation, without obligating further action on the part of either party.

2.5. Upon receipt of a complaint, the Ethics Board member who received the complaint will engage in the following:

- A. Reply within two (2) working days while on contract or one (1) calendar week during the summer to acknowledge receipt to the complainant,
- B. Forward copies to the other Ethics Board members via non-WOU email, and
- C. Initiate the investigation by the Ethics Board using the form in Appendix I. The Ethics Board will select one or more of their members to be available to respond within one (1) week to complaints while faculty are off-contract in the summer.

2.6. When the Ethics Board finds that a complaint does not fall within the purview of the WOUFT Constitution and Bylaws, the Ethics Board will end the investigation, document the finding, and notify both the complainant and the respondent of the finding within two (2) working days while on contract or one (1) calendar week during the summer. When the Ethics Board finds that a complaint falls within the purview of the WOUFT Constitution and Bylaws, the Ethics Board will inform the complainant of this finding and inform the respondent of the complaint against them within two (2) working days while on contract or one (1) calendar week during the summer.

2.7. Once the Ethics Board has determined that a complaint does fall under the purview of the WOUFT Constitution and Bylaws, the Ethics Board will investigate the complaint and render its decision in a written report to the complainant and the respondent in a timely fashion. The three possible decisions include the following: no sanction, confidential letter of reprimand, or petition for expulsion. When the decision results in no sanction, the Ethics Board will notify the complainant and the respondent within two (2) working days of that finding while on contract or one (1) calendar week during the summer.

2.8. Any decision resulting in the issuance of a confidential letter of reprimand will be sent to the respondent and the complainant within five (5) business days during the contract period and within fifteen (15) business days during the summer term; each such correspondence will include a copy of the letter of reprimand.

2.9. Any decision resulting in a confidential letter of reprimand will be announced in the members-only part of the next regular membership meeting, provided that the complainant and respondent have already been notified. No identifying details beyond information about the issues/resolutions that arose as a result of the confidential letter of reprimand will be shared with the membership. Investigations resulting in no sanction will not be announced.

2.10. In rare cases when the Ethics Board decides that a Petition for Expulsion is appropriate, a representative from the Ethics Board will present the petition for Expulsion to the membership for a vote at the members-only portion of the next regular membership meeting after the complainant and respondent have been notified. Voting shall be confidential. If more than fifty (50) percent of the members present vote for expulsion, the respondent will be expelled from WOUFT for a period of at least two (2) years. The expelled former member may reapply for membership after two (2) years, subject to a vote for reinstatement. Such a reinstatement vote may occur at any regular membership meeting. If more than fifty (50) percent of the members present vote for reinstatement, the member may submit an application for membership and will be granted reinstatement if they are eligible by the criteria in Article III, Section 1. Should the respondent resign from WOUFT prior to the expulsion vote, there will be a two-year waiting period prior to rejoining WOUFT.

2.11 As non-member employees cannot be reprimanded or expelled from the Union, any non-member employees found by the Ethics Board (after an investigation of a member complaint) advocating for any regular member to leave the union may be disqualified from regular membership for two years.

2.12. Based on an analysis of lessons learned from ethics complaints for the year, at the Spring general membership meeting the Ethics Board and Executive Council will provide a report on their work for the year and make recommendations for engagement and improvement in the areas of diversity, justice, equity, and inclusion.

2.13. The Ethics Board will maintain an electronic record of complaints and any associated reports. These records must be accessible only to current ethics board members and must not be owned by Western Oregon University. Within these electronic records, complaints and any resulting reports will be kept for two (2) years and then destroyed. The Ethics Board will establish documented processes by which records are maintained, transferred, and destroyed and will report to the Executive Council on their processes once per year.

2.14. The Ethics Board will maintain strict confidentiality regarding its processing of complaints and deliberations regarding sanctions imposed, with the exception of required notifications to complainants and respondents.

ARTICLE VIII - RATIFICATION OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENTS

Section 1. Tentative Agreement

Tentative agreements reached between the union and the employer shall be subject to vote for ratification by the membership covered by that agreement.

Section 2. Ratification Procedure

Ratification shall be by a majority vote by ballot distributed electronically, using a vendor that follows the [LMRDA standards](#), no longer than seven business days after the Tentative Agreement is reached. Consideration of the tentative agreement will be given at a regular meeting whenever a tentative agreement is reached within one week of a scheduled, regular meeting or by a special meeting called by the Executive Council. The closing of the electronic ballot and counting of the ballots shall occur within three days of ballot distribution, and verified by at least three Executive Council members. The results shall be immediately announced to the members by email, once verified. In the event of a tie vote, the agreement is ratified.

If an approved electronic voting mechanism is not available, the votes shall be cast by secret paper ballots deposited into a closed container. If a regular member is unable to be present to vote during the designated election period and wishes to cast a ballot, the regular member can do so by contacting the WOUFT Secretary to arrange to pick up an absentee ballot and designate a proxy voter who may submit the ballot. Any assigned proxy voter must be a regular member who can be present during the election. Absentee ballots will be numbered, stamped, initialed and only accepted from assigned proxy voters. The counting of the ballots shall occur during that same meeting, and be performed by the WOUFT Secretary or (if the Secretary is unavailable) by some member of the Executive Council, in the presence of at least two other members of the WOUFT Executive Council. The results shall be immediately announced to the members, during that same meeting. In the event of a tie vote, the agreement is ratified. See Article XI, Section 3 for meeting quorum details.

ARTICLE IX – STRIKES

Section 1. Strike Authorization Meeting

To conduct a strike authorization meeting of WOUFT members, the Executive Council shall publicize and notify members about the strike authorization meeting at least forty-eight (48) hours before it is held. See Article IV, Section 3 for meeting quorum details.

Section 2. Strike Authorization Vote

The membership, at the request of the Executive Council, may authorize the union to call a strike. Strike authorization shall be granted by a majority vote of those members present at a meeting called for such a purpose. The votes shall be cast by secret paper ballots deposited into a closed container. The counting of the ballots shall occur during that same meeting and be performed by the WOUFT Secretary or, if the Secretary is unavailable, by some member of the Executive Council, in the presence of at least two (2) other members of the WOUFT Executive Council. The results shall be immediately announced to the members during that same meeting. In the event of a tie vote, the authorization shall fail.

ARTICLE X – AFFILIATIONS

Section 1. AFT, AFT-Oregon, Oregon State AFL-CIO

This federation shall maintain affiliation with and whenever possible send delegates to the following organizations:

- A. The American Federation of Teachers (AFT). All delegates and alternates to the national Convention, except those designated as a duty of their office, shall be elected annually by majority vote according to the same procedures for election of officers described in Article V. The election will be scheduled after the Call-to-Convention is given by the American Federation of Teachers. Delegates shall serve for a term of one (1) year from the time of their election. The President and the Secretary shall certify the election and forward the credentials of all delegates and alternates to the National Office as soon as possible but not later than the time required by the National Office before the convening of the National

Convention. The number to be sent to the convention, notwithstanding the number to which the local is entitled, is subject to determination in advance by the Executive Council. The Treasurer will ensure that the national per capita payment through the required month has been sent to the National Office at least fifteen (15) days before the convening of the National Convention.

- B. AFT-Oregon. Delegates and alternates, except those designated as a duty of their office, shall be elected annually by majority vote of those voting according to the same procedures for election of officers described in Article V. The election will be scheduled after the Call-to-Convention is given by the AFT-Oregon. The number to be sent to the convention, notwithstanding the number to which the local is entitled, is subject to determination in advance by the Executive Council.
- C. The Oregon State AFL-CIO. Delegates and alternates, except those designated as a duty of their office, shall be elected annually by majority vote of those voting according to the same procedures for election of officers described in Article V. The election will be scheduled after the Call-to-Convention is given by the Oregon State AFL-CIO. The number to be sent to the convention, notwithstanding the number to which the local is entitled, is subject to determination in advance by the Executive Council.
- D. The federation to the best of its ability shall be active in the affairs of affiliated organizations.

Section 2. Delegates

2.1. Upon request, each delegation shall make written reports to the Executive Council on meetings attended.

2.2. Every reasonable effort shall be made by this federation to pay the legitimate expenses of delegates to meetings and conventions of affiliated organizations.

2.3. Delegates to affiliated organizations shall meet the same requirements as officers of this local.

ARTICLE XI – AMENDMENTS

Proposed amendments to the Constitution and Bylaws may be submitted by the Executive Council or in a proposal signed by no fewer than five (5) members in good standing to the regular members at least three (3) weeks in advance of the meeting at which the vote is scheduled. A vote will be held on the proposed amendments at the next regular member meeting or during a special meeting, if one is convened by the

Executive Council. A majority vote of those at the meeting is needed for approval. The rules for quorum (20%) apply to this vote regardless of the venue (see Article IV, Section 1.2). The votes shall be cast by secret paper ballots deposited into a closed container. The counting of the ballots shall occur during that same meeting and be performed by the WOUFT Secretary or, if the Secretary is unavailable, by some member of the Executive Council, in the presence of at least two (2) other members of the WOUFT Executive Council. The results shall be immediately announced to the members, during that same meeting. In the event of a tie vote, the amendment(s) is/are approved. The same amendment(s) may not be introduced more than once in a three-month period.

ARTICLE XII – AVAILABILITY OF DOCUMENTS

- A. One electronic copy of the Constitution and Bylaws and any/all future amendments shall be submitted to the National Office of the American Federation of Teachers. One electronic copy of the Constitution and Bylaws and any/all future amendments shall be submitted to the State Office of the AFT-Oregon.
- B. Copies of the Constitution and Bylaws shall be made available to other affiliated organizations upon request to the President.
- C. Copies shall be available for any members of this local upon request to the Secretary.
- D. All notices, notifications, and materials for distribution to membership may be disseminated by regular mail, campus mail, email, or any other means that facilitates broad communication.

APPENDIX I Ethics Board Forms

**WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY FEDERATION OF TEACHERS
LOCAL 2278 OF THE AMERICAN FEDERATION OF TEACHERS
ETHICS BOARD COMPLAINT INTAKE AND PROCESSING FORM**

(to be filled out by an Ethics Board member)

Date:

Complaint Taken By:

Signature (electronic ok):

Complainant (including contact information and preferred mode of following up):

Respondent (including contact information and preferred mode of following up):

Full Description of Complaint (including any written complaint submitted by the complainant):

(continued)

Notes from Meeting With Complainant:

Notes from Meeting With Respondent:

Other Witness 1:

Relevant Information From This Witness:

Other Witness 2:

Relevant Information From This Witness:

Other Witness 3:

Relevant Information From This Witness:

Report on Ethics Committee Deliberations / Findings:

Action To Be Taken (circle one):

No Action Warranted

Confidential Letter of Reprimand (copy attached)

Petition for Expulsion to Be Presented to Membership

**WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY FEDERATION OF TEACHERS
LOCAL 2278 OF THE AMERICAN FEDERATION OF TEACHERS
PETITION FOR EXPULSION**

Presented to the Membership on (date):

Respondent:

Charge - Violation of Article(s) / Section(s):

Description of Charge To Be Read To Membership:

Vote Tally

Number of Members Present:

Yes (for expulsion):

No (against expulsion):

Abstain:

Respondent Notified On (Date):

Complainant Notified On (Date):